THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Marvin H. Dukes, III, Special Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
OCT 13 2015
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-000035
Lower Case No. 2013-CP-07-00610

First South Bank Respondent,

v.

John E. Rosenberg and Phillip J. Brust Defendants,

Of Whom The Estate of Phillip J. Brust is Appellant.

**FINAL [] BRIEF OF APPELLANT
THE ESTATE OF PHILLIP J. BRUST**

Robert E. Sumner, IV, Esquire
E. Brandon Gaskins, Esquire
Moore & Van Allen, PLLC
78 Wentworth Street
Post Office Box 22828
Charleston, SC 29413-2828
Telephone: (843) 579-7000
Attorneys for Appellant

Jeffrey L. Silver, Esquire

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment in favor of First South Bank by ignoring questions of fact regarding the scope of authority granted under the Specific Limited Power of Attorney, Brust's knowledge of the scope of the Guaranty, the effect of subsequent modifications of the Loan, and the proposed counterclaims asserted against First South Bank?
- II. Did the trial court err in denying Brust's Motion to Amend by mistakenly relying on the doctrine of *res judicata* rather than deciding the motion under Rule 15, SCRPC?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural history.

On March 8, 2013, Respondent First South Bank ("First South") filed a complaint against Phillip J. Brust¹ and John E. Rosenberg in the Court of Commons Pleas for Beaufort County, South Carolina, seeking to collect under loan guaranties signed by Rosenberg on behalf of himself and as attorney-in-fact for Brust under a power of attorney. Brust answered the complaint, denying all claims and raising affirmative defenses. Brust's affirmative defenses included that Rosenberg did not have actual or apparent authority under the power of attorney to sign the guaranty on his behalf, and consequently the guaranty was invalid and unenforceable. In addition, Brust argued that he was released from any obligations under the guaranty because the underlying obligation had been modified several times without First South renewing the guaranty.

On October 23, 2013, First South Bank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment against Brust (the "Motion for Summary Judgment"), which was continued several times

¹ Brust suffered a stroke shortly before First South initiated this action and died during its pendency. As a result, The Estate of Phillip J. Brust has been substituted as a party and is the appellant in this action. Brust and The Estate of Phillip J. Brust are referred to collectively in this brief as "Brust."

to allow the Parties to conduct discovery. On May 23, 2014, Brust took the deposition of Patrick Wright, First South's Rule 30(b)(6) representative. Brust received the transcript on May 28, 2014. On May 30, 2014, Brust filed a Motion to Amend Answer and Cross-claims Against Defendant Rosenberg (the "Motion to Amend") seeking to assert counterclaims against First South for negligence and breach of contract based on the deposition testimony of Wright.

On June 3, 2014, the trial court conducted a hearing on First South's Motion for Summary Judgment. On August 5, 2014, the trial court entered an Order Granting First South's Motion for Summary Judgment against Brust (the "Summary Judgment Order"), and on August 18, 2014, Brust timely filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Summary Judgment Order. On December 10, 2014, the trial court entered an Order Denying Brust's Motion to Amend (the "Amendment Order"). On December 18, the trial court entered an Order Denying Brust's Motion for Reconsideration of the Order Granting First South's Motion for Summary Judgment against Brust. Following receipt of the Order Denying Brust's Motion for Reconsideration, Brust timely filed and served its Notice of Appeal as to both the Summary Judgment Order and Amendment Order on January 9, 2015.

2. The statement of the facts.

Ecological Investments, LLC ("Ecological") is a South Carolina limited liability company which was organized to construct and operate a tourist attraction in or around Beaufort and Jasper Counties devoted to butterfly conservation and natural science education, which was to be called "Butterfly Kingdom." John E. Rosenberg and Phillip J. Brust, among other investors, were members of Ecological, and Rosenberg served as

its managing member. Ecological owns approximately 82.68 acres in Jasper County, South Carolina, which at one time was intended to serve as the location for Butterfly Kingdom (the "Property").

In late 2005, Patrick Wright, the area manager for First South's branch in Bluffton, South Carolina, approached Rosenberg about refinancing an existing loan Ecological had with another bank, which was secured by the Property. (R. p. 489, lines 11-16; R. p. 505, line 7-p. 507, line 8) (Wright Dep. 15:11-16:8, 31:7-33:8). First South offered to provide Ecological with a \$2.6 million interest-only loan with a two-year term. (R. p. 909-911) (Wright Dep. Ex. 4). According to Wright, First South conditioned the refinancing upon receiving personal guaranties of the loan from Rosenberg and Brust, among other terms and conditions. (R. p. 527, lines 4-20) (Wright Dep. 53:4-20). In deciding to offer Ecological a loan, First South violated several of its internal loan underwriting policies, including:

- Failing to perform a credit approval summary;
- Failing to obtain financial information from Ecological, Rosenberg, and Brust to determine their creditworthiness and ability to repay the loan;
- Basing repayment of the loan on a speculative repayment source, specifically the sale of the Property;
- Structuring the loan as a balloon loan without regular amortization.

(R. p. 627, line 15-p. 629, line 13; R. p. 630, line 4-p. 632, line 25; R. p. 639, line 17-p. 641, line 9) (Wright Dep. 153:15-155:13, 156:4-158:25, 165:17-167:9).

Wright memorialized the proposed terms of the loan in a commitment letter dated January 9, 2006 (the "Commitment Letter"). (R. pp. 909-911) (Wright Dep. Ex. 4). The Commitment Letter stated that the "[p]ayment of the Loan shall be unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by John E. Rosenberg and Philip J. Brust," and "Loan"

was specifically defined in the Commitment Letter to pertain only to the loan for \$2.6 million. (*Id.*) The Commitment Letter also contained other terms such as requiring Rosenberg and Brust to maintain a primary deposit relationship with First South and requiring Ecological's counsel to provide an opinion letter to First South as to the validity and enforceability of loan documents and other matters that First South required. (*Id.*) The Commitment Letter provided that it would expire if the loan was not closed by January 31, 2006, and neither First South nor Ecological was obligated under the Commitment Letter if the loan was not closed by that date. (*Id.*) Although First South maintained a policy that required its loan officers to clearly explain guaranty obligations to guarantors, First South had no further contact with Brust prior to the Loan closing about the guaranty requirements after sending the Commitment Letter. (R. pp. 557 line 22-p. 559, line 12; R. pp. 634 line 15-p. 635, line 20) (Wright Dep. 83:22-85:12, 160:15-161:20).

On February 2, 2006, after the Commitment Letter had expired, Ecological and First South closed on Loan Number 8033303 in the amount of \$2.6 million, and Ecological executed a promissory note to First South (the "Loan"). (R. p. 555; R. pp. 42-59) (Wright Dep. 81; Compl. Ex. A). The purpose of the Loan was to pay off the existing loan on the Property in the amount of \$2.2 million, pay property taxes on the Property, pay the required interest payments for the interest-only Loan, and provide additional cash to Ecological. (*Id.*) Pursuant to the promissory note, the term of the Loan was two years, and the maturity date was February 2, 2008. (R. pp. 42-59) (Compl. Ex. A). The Loan accrued interest at the rate of seven percent (7%) and payment was

structured with monthly interest-only payments followed by a final principal payment on the date of maturity. (*Id.*)

At the closing of the Loan, Rosenberg signed a personal guaranty on his own behalf and a separate guaranty on behalf of Brust (the "Guaranty"). (R. pp. 920-921) (Wright Dep. Ex. 8). Rosenberg signed the Guaranty on behalf of Brust pursuant to a power of attorney dated January 25, 2006 (the "POA"). (R. pp. 922-923) (Wright Dep. Ex. 9). The POA was entitled "SPECIFIC LIMITED POWER OF ATTORNEY" and authorized Rosenberg to sign certain documents involved in the financing of the Property. (*Id.*) Although Rosenberg signed the Guaranty, the POA did not expressly list a "guaranty" as a document that Rosenberg was empowered to execute. (*Id.*) Rather, the POA stated that Rosenberg was authorized to execute "any document, instrument, contract, Note, Mortgage, agreement, assignment, affidavit, disclosure, etc. and to pay sums on my account, or to execute any such other documents as may be necessary to close the loan with First South Bank in the original principal sum of \$2,600,000.00." (*Id.*)

The POA was substantially similar to a separate power of attorney that Brust executed in association with financing of the Property in 2001. (R. pp. 445, line 5-p. 459, line 4; R. p. 749) (Finger Dep. 30:5-34:4; Def. Ex. 1). However, the 2001 power of attorney signed by Brust expressly listed a "guarantee" as one of the documents that the agent was authorized to execute in connection with that loan. (*Id.*) In 2006, "guarantee" was omitted from the POA. (R. pp. 922-923) (Wright Dep. Ex. 9).

The Guaranty signed by Rosenberg on behalf of Brust was completed on First South's form for guaranty agreements. (R. pp. 559, line 13-p.560, line 3) (Wright Dep.

85:13-86:3). The guaranty agreement form used by First South contains two options: (1) Box A, which indicates that the guaranty is limited to a specific loan and is not continuing; and (2) Box B, which indicates the guaranty is continuing and unlimited. (R. pp. 561, line 4-p. 564, line 24; R. pp. 920-921) (Wright Dep. 87:4-90:24, Ex. 8). Specifically, Box B states that the guarantor “guarantees to [First South] the payment and performance of each and every debt, liability and obligation of every type and description which Borrower may now or at any time hereafter owed to [First South].” (*Id.*) Additionally, the form has a blank for First South to insert the amount of the principal repayment obligation under the guaranty. (*Id.*)

First South admits that it did not disclose the guaranty form to Brust either prior to, during, or after the closing and that First South did not discuss with Brust whether the guaranty would be of a continuing and unlimited nature. (R. p. 557, line 24-p.559, line 12; R. p. 565, line 22-p. 566, line 1) (Wright Dep. 83:24-85:12, 91:22-92:1). Although those issues were never discussed with Brust, First South checked Box B and inserted “UNLIMITED” in the principal amount. (R. p. 561, line 4-p. 566, line1) (Wright Dep. 87:4-92:1). In the Rule 30(b)(6) deposition of First South, Wright admitted that First South improperly made the Guaranty continuing and unlimited. (R. p. 559, line 13-p. 567, line 15) (Wright Dep. 85:13-93:15). Instead of being continuing and unlimited, First South should have checked Box A to make it a non-continuing guaranty and should have written \$2.6 million as the principal repayment amount instead of “UNLIMITED.” (*Id.*)

The continuing, unlimited Guaranty was signed by Rosenberg at the Loan closing on February 2, 2006. Neither Wright nor any other employee of First South attended the closing. Wright was unaware that Brust would not be attending the closing or that

Rosenberg would be executing the Guaranty on Brust's behalf pursuant to a power of attorney. (R. pp. 555, lines 18-24; pp. 570, lines 12-24) (Wright Dep. 81:18-24, 96:12-24). Wright did not discover that Rosenberg signed Brust's Guaranty pursuant to the POA until the closing documents had been returned to First South after the closing. (R. p. 569, line 24-p. 570, line 11) (Wright Dep. 95:24-96:11). Although First South had a policy that required its loan officers to confirm the validity of the signatures of guarantors, Wright did nothing to confirm the validity of such signatures on either the Guaranty or the POA or inquire into the scope of Rosenberg's authority under the POA. (R. p. 574, line 2-p. 575, line 4; R. p. 635, line 21-p. 637, line 14) (Wright Dep. 100:2-104:4, 161:21-163:14). In fact, First South did not even require that closing counsel issue an attorney opinion letter attesting to the proper execution and enforceability of the closing documents. (R. p. 574, lines 12-14) (Wright Dep. 100:12-14).

On January 14, 2008, First South and Ecological entered into a Commercial Debt Modification Agreement for Loan Number 8033303, which extended the Loan's maturity date to April 30, 2008. (R. p. 583, line 13-p. 584, line 7; R. pp. 42-59) (Wright Dep. 109:13-110:7; Compl. Ex. A). At the time, First South had a policy requiring it to obtain new guaranty agreements from guarantors for all renewals, extensions, modifications, and other changes in the terms of a loan. (R. p. 637, line 15-p. 638, line 6) (Wright Dep. 163:15-164:6). The policy provided:

It is the policy of First South Bank to obtain the signatures of all obligors on renewal notes before the existing note is released. The agreement of all parties to be obtained prior to any extension, change in terms, release, substitution of collateral, et cetera. Failure to do so could release obligors from their liability to First South Bank.

(R. p. 637, line 15-p. 638, line 6; R. pp. 751-908) (Wright Dep. 163:15-164:6, Ex. 2). First South did not obtain a new guaranty from Rosenberg or Brust in connection with the January 14, 2008 modification, and Brust did not sign any documents related to the January 14, 2008 modification. (R. p. 583, line 11-p. 585, line 18) (Wright Dep. 109:11-111:18).

After the Loan was modified in January 2008, First South and Ecological entered into three separate notes modifying the Loan in May, August, and October of 2008. The new notes extended the Loan's maturity dates and modified the repayment terms. (R. p. 585, line 23-p. 590, line 14; R. pp. 42-59) (Wright Dep. 111:23-116:14; Compl. Ex. A). First South did not obtain a new guaranty from Rosenberg or Brust in connection with the three Loan modifications and extensions in May, August, and October of 2008, and Brust did not sign any documents related to such modifications and extensions. (R. p. 587, line 4-p. 590, line 14) (Wright Dep. 113:4-116:14).

In addition to modifying the Loan, on October 15, 2008, Ecological obtained a new loan from First South in the amount of \$275,000.00 (the "\$275,000 Loan") and executed a promissory note for the \$275,000 Loan on that same date. (R. p. 592, line 25-p. 594, line 7) (Wright Dep. 118:25-120:7). First South did not obtain a new guaranty from Rosenberg or Brust in connection with the \$275,000 Loan, and Brust did not sign any documents related to the \$275,000 Loan. (*Id.*)

In January 2009, Ecological obtained approximately \$500,000.00 from the sale of an easement on the Property. At the instruction of Rosenberg and without consulting Brust, First South allocated these proceeds to satisfy the \$275,000 Loan. (R. p. 611, line 6-p. 616, line 25) (Wright Dep. 137:6-142:25).

On January 21, 2010, First South and Ecological entered into a another modification of the Loan, in which the parties restructured the payment terms to require interest-only payments on a monthly basis with a final principal payment of \$1,831,022.53 due by the new maturity date of October 14, 2012. (R. pp. 42-59) (Compl. Ex. A). First South did not obtain a new guaranty from Rosenberg or Brust in connection with the January 21, 2010 modification, and Brust did not sign any documents related to such modification. (R. p. 597, line 76-p. 598, line 9) (Wright Dep. 123:7-124:9).

On November 30, 2010, First South and Ecological again modified the Loan by entering into a new promissory note. (R. p. 598, line 106-p. 599, line 10; R. pp. 42-59) (Wright Dep. 124:10-125:10; Compl. Ex. A). Under the November 30, 2010 note, the new term of the Loan was two years from the date of execution. (R. pp. 42-59) (Compl. Ex. A). The loan was assigned a new interest rate of 5.25%, and the repayment terms were restructured to require monthly principal and interest payments, followed by a final principal payment in the amount of \$1,615,269.50 by the new maturity date of November 30, 2012. (*Id.*) First South did not obtain a new guaranty from Rosenberg or Brust in connection with the November 30, 2010 note, and Brust did not sign any documents related to that note. (R. p. 599, lines 11-23) (Wright Dep. 125:11-23).

Ecological did not make the balloon payment due by November 30, 2012. Thereafter, on March 8, 2013, First South sued Brust and Rosenberg for collection under the Guaranties signed by Rosenberg on February 2, 2006.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF FIRST SOUTH BANK.

“When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, appellate courts apply the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC.” *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 121-22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011). “In ruling on motions for summary judgment, the court must construe all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence against the moving party.” *Johnston v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 61, 64, 437 S.E.2d 45, 47 (1993). “At the summary judgment stage of litigation, the court does not weigh conflicting evidence with respect to a disputed material fact.” *Lanier Constr. Co. v. Bailey & Yobs, Inc.*, 384 S.C. 275, 278, 681 S.E.2d 909, 911 (Ct. App. 2009). “Summary judgment is appropriate only when the pleadings, depositions, interrogatory answers, admissions, and affidavits, [if any] show that there is no genuine issue of material fact.” *Shuler v. Tuomey Regional Medical Center, Inc.*, 313 S.C. 225, 227, 437 S.E.2d 128, 130 (Ct. App. 1993). To withstand a motion for summary judgment “in cases applying the preponderance of evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

Summary judgment is improper when there is an issue as to the construction of a written contract and the contract is ambiguous. *Wallace v. Day*, 390 S.C. 69, 74, 700 S.E.2d 446, 449 (Ct. App. 2010). A trial court “is without authority to consider parties’ secret intentions, and therefore words cannot be read into a contract to impart an intent unexpressed when the contract was executed. Construction of an ambiguous contract is a question of fact to be decided by the trier of fact.” *Id.* (internal citations omitted).

- A. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment because the POA did not expressly grant Rosenberg the power to execute a “guaranty” and the language in the POA is susceptible to more than one interpretation.**

The trial court granted summary judgment on the erroneous conclusion that the POA unambiguously authorized Rosenberg to execute the Guaranty on behalf of Brust. The trial court ruled that the “Power of Attorney is clear and unambiguous as it is susceptible to only one meaning and represents Brust’s intention, namely, to give Rosenberg the authority to execute, on his behalf, any and all documents and to perform any act related to the closing of the Loan, including the execution of the Guaranty, and to be bound by same.” (R. p. 23) (Order Mot. Summ. J., Conclusions of Law ¶12). As a result, the trial court concluded, “Rosenberg had actual authority to execute the Guaranty and Brust is bound by the terms of same.” (R. p. 23) (Order Mot. Summ. J., Conclusions of Law ¶13). In reaching these conclusions, the trial court misinterpreted the POA by refusing to recognize that the POA is susceptible to more than one interpretation of whether it authorized the execution of the Guaranty in contravention of the well-established principle of contractual interpretation that a power of attorney must be strictly construed and by looking beyond the four-corners of the POA to determine Brust’s intent thereunder.

In construing the POA, the trial court correctly noted that a power of attorney is subject to the rules of contractual interpretation, but it failed to apply the applicable rules of contractual interpretation in determining that the POA was unambiguous. A contract is ambiguous when its terms are reasonably susceptible to more than one interpretation. *S.C. Dep’t of Natural Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302-03 (2001). Because courts are mindful that powers of attorney are of special and

limited nature and authority, a “special power of attorney is to be strictly construed . . . so as to sanction only such acts as are clearly within its terms.” *Martin v. United States*, 249 F. Supp. 204, 208 (D.S.C. 1966) (citing *Holladay v. Daily*, 86 U.S. 606 (1874)); *see also*, 2A C.J.S. *Agency* § 157 (“Where the authority is contained in a power of attorney, such power is to be strictly construed . . . and does not empower the agent to make contracts of any different sort than that specified in the writing.”)).

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