IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED  
OCT 08 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Marvin H. Dukes, III, Special Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-000035  
Lower Case No. 2013-CP-07-00610

First South Bank.....  Respondent,

v.

John E. Rosenberg and Phillip J. Brust.....Defendants,

Of Whom The Estate of Phillip J. Brust is.....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT FIRST SOUTH BANK**

---

Jeffrey L. Silver, SC Bar # 5104  
Taylor A. Peace, SC Bar # 100206  
Tyler, Cassell, Jackson, Peace & Silver, LLC  
1331 Elmwood Avenue, Suite 300  
P.O. Box 11656 (29211)  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

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

Accordingly, the trial court properly found Rosenberg had apparent authority to execute the Brust Guaranty and Appellant has failed to show a genuine issue of material fact otherwise.

**D. The trial court properly found and concluded that Brust ratified the Guaranty.**

As an alternative ground for summary judgment, the trial court properly found that Brust ratified Rosenberg's execution of the Brust Guaranty. (R. p. 23, ¶¶ 9, 16.) Appellant argues this conclusion was in error; however Respondent has failed to present a genuine issue of material fact otherwise.

Ratification is the adoption and confirmation by one person of an act or contract performed or entered into on his behalf by another who at the time assumed to act as his agent. Lincoln v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 386 S.E. 2d 801, 300 S.C. 188 (S.C. Ct. App. 1989). Under South Carolina law, a party asserting ratification must establish the following three elements: (1)

acceptance by the principle of the benefits of the agent's acts; (2) the principal's full knowledge of the facts; and (3) circumstances of an affirmative election demonstrating the principal's intent to accept the unauthorized arrangement. Stiltner v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co., 717 S.E. 2d 74, 78, 395 S.C. 183, 191 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011). Mere silence or failure of a principal to repudiate the unauthorized act of an agent does not necessarily constitute ratification, unless silence or acquiescence in question cannot be explained on any other theory than ratification. Id. Also, a principal will be held to have ratified the unauthorized acts of his agent unless he disaffirms same within a reasonable time. Foxworth v. Murchison Nat. Bank, 134 S.E. 428, 136 S.C. 458 (1928).

With regard to the first element, it is clear Brust accepted the benefits of Rosenberg's executing the Brust Guaranty. This is seen in the fact that Respondent funded the Loan to Ecological, of which Brust was a member. (R. p. 573, line 24-p. 594, line 20; R. pp. 909-911, 922-923.)

As to the second element, the only evidence produced shows Brust had full knowledge of the facts. This is seen in the fact that the Commitment Letter informed Brust that he was required to act as guarantor of the Loan. (R. pp. 909-911.) This is true despite the difference between the terms of the Commitment Letter and Brust Guaranty. It is also seen in the fact that Brust provided Respondent with his personal financial information from 2005 through 2010 in compliance with the Commitment Letter. (R. pp. 924-939.) Appellant has provided no other explanation for these actions outside of assumptions and speculation. (Br. Of Appellant pp. 26-27.) Furthermore, Rosenberg's knowledge of the execution of the Brust Guaranty and the terms thereof are imputable to Brust considering Rosenberg was acting as Brust's agent under the POA when he executed same. See Bankers Trust of South Carolina v. Bruce, 323 S.E.2d 523, 532,

283 S.C. 408, 423 (S.C. Ct. App. 1984). All of the above is in addition to Brust's failure to make a complaint, inquiry, or repudiation, oral or written, of the terms of the Brust Guaranty or Rosenberg's execution thereof. (R. p. 652, lines 13-25; R. pp. 735-737.) Considering these facts, the only conclusion that can be deduced is that Brust had full knowledge of the facts and therefore the second element is satisfied.

To rebut this conclusion, Appellant points to the Wright deposition and the fact that Wright did not know whether Brust saw or read the Brust Guaranty. (R. pp. 221-224.) However, this evidence only extends to what Wright knew and goes no further. It does not raise an issue of fact as to what Brust knew, and any inference drawn therefrom would be speculation and/or conjecture. Harris Teeter, Inc. v. Moore & Van Allen, PLLC, 701 S.E. 2d 742, 754, 390 S.C. 275 (2010) (Hearn, J., concurring) (citing McKinight v. S.C. Dept't of Corrs., 385 S.C. 380, 390, 684 S.E. 2d 588, 571 (S.C. Ct. App. 2009)).

The third element is also satisfied as the circumstances show Brust's affirmation elected an intent to adopt Rosenberg's execution of the Brust Guaranty. This intent is seen in the fact that Brust made no complaint, inquiry, or repudiation, written or otherwise, of the Brust Guaranty until the institution of this action over six (6) years after execution of the Brust Guaranty. (R. p. 652, lines 13-25; R. pp. 735-737.) He also provided Respondent with his personal financial information during the repayment term of the Loan. (R. pp. 924-939.) Appellant has provided no evidence to rebut this conclusion. As such, the third element is satisfied.

Accordingly, the trial court properly concluded Brust ratified Rosenberg's execution of the Brust Guaranty.

**E. The trial court properly found that Brust's silence constitutes a ratification of the Brust Guaranty.**

As indicated above, South Carolina law states that, "Mere silence or failure of a principal to repudiate the unauthorized act of an agent does not necessarily constitute ratification, unless silence or acquiescence in question cannot be explained on any other theory than ratification." Stiltner, 395 S.C. at 191, 717 S.E. 2d at 78. With this principle in mind the trial court properly found Brust, "affirmatively elected an intention to adopt Rosenberg's acts by making no written repudiation of the Guaranty during the term of repayment of the Note and Renewals." (R. p. 24 ¶16.)

This is a proper conclusion considering Brust, by his own admission, failed to make any complaint, inquiry, or repudiation, written or oral, concerning the Brust Guaranty or Rosenberg's execution thereof, sent Respondent his personal financial information during the six (6) year repayment period, and Rosenberg's knowledge of the terms of the Brust Guaranty and the imputation of that knowledge to Brust (R. p. 652, lines 13-25; R. pp. 735-737.). Appellant has failed to present any other theory as to why these actions occurred other than speculation and conjecture that does not create a genuine issue or material fact. Harris Teeter, Inc. v. Moore & Van Allen, PLLC, 701 S.E. 2d 742, 754, 390 S.C. 275 (2010) (Hearn, J., concurring).

Therefore, summary judgment on this basis was proper.

**F. The trial court properly found that the subsequent modifications to the Loan did not release Brust from his obligations under the Guaranty.**

The trial court also correctly found and concluded that the Renewals did not relieve Brust of his liability under the Brust Guaranty as same relates to the Loan, and he agreed to repay same under the clear and unambiguous terms of the Brust Guaranty.

As set forth above, the cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give effect to the parties' intentions as determined by the contract language. Middleton, 694 S.E.2d 31, 34, 388 S.C. 8, 14 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010). Where the written instrument's language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines its force and effect. Davis, 713 S.E.2d 799, 805, 394 S.C. 119, 127 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011); U.S. Bank Trust Nat. Ass'n v. Bell, 684 S.E.2d 199, 385 S.C. 364 (S.C. Ct. App. 2009). If a contract is unambiguous, extrinsic evidence cannot be used to give the contract a meaning different from that indicated by its plain terms, and it is ambiguous only when it may fairly and reasonably be understood in more ways than one. Watson, 756 S.E. 2d 155, 161, 407 S.C. 443, 455 (S.C. Ct. App. 2014).

In this case, the Brust Guaranty provides that it "...is an absolute, unconditional and continuing guaranty of payment of the indebtedness and shall continue to be in force and be binding upon the Undersigned, whether or not all indebtedness is paid in full, until this guaranty is revoked by written notice actually received by the Lender, and such revocation shall not be effective as to indebtedness existing or committed for at the time of actual receipt of such notice by the lender, or as to any renewals, extensions and refinancings thereof." (R. pp. 920, ¶2.) These are clear and unambiguous terms and therefore the Court must construe it according to its ordinary and popular meaning, said meaning being that Brust agreed that the Brust Guaranty would be in full force and effect absent revocation in writing received by the Respondent. This includes the subsequent Renewals entered into by Ecological, of which Brust is a member. The Guaranty also provides, "The liability of the Undersigned shall not be affected or impaired by any of the following acts or things....(ii) any one or more extensions or renewals or any modifications of the interest rates, maturity, or other contractual terms applicable to any indebtedness." (R. p. 921, ¶6.) Also, the fact that Respondent allegedly violated its internal

policies and procedures with regard to the execution of the Renewals as they provide no relief as Respondent's policies and procedures create no duty between Brust and Respondent, and therefore there is not evidence of any breach of a duty to Brust other than those set forth in the Brust Guaranty. See Citizens and Southern National Bank of South Carolina v. Lanford, 540 S.E.2d 549, 313 S.C. 443 (S.C. 1994).

Accordingly, the trial court properly found that Renewals did not relieve Brust of his obligations under the Guaranty.

**G. Trial court properly found that Brust's pending counterclaims were the same as his affirmative defenses under Rule 8, SCRPC.**

Appellant argues that the trial court improperly found that Brust's Seventh Defense and Tenth Defense were counterclaims under Rule 8, SCRPC, and they were the same as the First Counterclaim and Second Counterclaim. However, as set forth in the Order for Summary Judgment, the Seventh Defense and Tenth Defense are counterclaims that were misidentified as affirmative defenses, and they are identical to the First Counterclaim and Second Counterclaim. (R. p. 25, ¶¶27-29; R. pp. 29-35.)

Under Rule 8, SCRPC, "[a] pleading which sets forth a cause of action, whether an original claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall contain (1) a short and plain statement on the grounds including facts and statutes upon which the court's jurisdiction depends, unless the court already has jurisdiction to support it, (2) a short plain statement of facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, and (3) a prayer or demand for judgment for the relief to which he deems himself entitled. Rule 8(a), SCRPC. Also, "[w]hen a party has mistakenly designated a defense as a counterclaim or a counterclaim as a defense, the court shall treat the pleading as if there had been a proper designation. Rule 8(c), SCRPC. "The aim is to

avoid the 'surprise' defenses permissible under the old general denial answer, and require the defendant also to stick to 'fact' pleading. Rule 8 SCRCPP, cmt.

As applied to this matter, the Seventh Defense is, in reality, a counterclaim under Rule 8, SCRCPP. As to the first element, the trial court already had jurisdiction to hear the issues asserted in the Seventh Defense. (R. pp. 1-3; R. pp. 82-95.) The second element is also satisfied as the Seventh Defense contains a short plain statement of facts showing Brust is entitled to relief, mainly, that Respondent violated its own policies and procedures and was negligent as a result. (R. p. 85, ¶20.) Furthermore, the third element is satisfied as the Seventh Defense contains a prayer for relief, said prayer being that Respondent's claim is barred in whole or in part. Id. As a practical matter, the Seventh Defense, if proved, would result in a reduction of Respondent's damages and a set-off to Brust. Accordingly, the Seventh Defense is a counterclaim under Rule 8, SCRCPP and same was mistakenly identified by Brust as an affirmative defense.

The Tenth Defense is also a counterclaim under Rule 8, SCRCPP under the same analysis. As to the first element, the trial court already had jurisdiction to hear matters related to the Tenth Defense. (R. pp. 1-3; R. pp. 82-95.) As to the second element, the Tenth Defense contains a short plain statement showing Brust was entitled to relief with regard to the Tenth Defense, the statement that Respondent allegedly breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing to Brust. (R. p. 86, ¶23.) The third element is also satisfied as the Tenth Defense alleges entitlement to relief, said relief being that Respondent's claim is barred in whole or in part. Id. As with the Seventh Defense, the Tenth Defense would result in a set-off to the amounts owed under the Brust Guaranty. Therefore, the Tenth Defense is a counterclaim under Rule 8, SCRCPP, and same was mistakenly identified as an affirmative defense.

With this framework in mind, the Seventh Defense and Tenth Defense are the same as the First Counterclaim and Second Counterclaim respectively. (R. pp. 29-35.) In particular, the First Counterclaim alleges Respondent owed Brust a duty to act reasonably and to comply with standard banking practices in the underwriting, closing, and administration of the Loan in question, that Respondent breached its duty to Brust, and that Brust suffered damages as a result. (R. p. 162, ¶88- p. 164, ¶91.) In other words, Brust alleged that Respondent was negligent. Id. These are the same allegations set forth in the Seventh Defense, the only difference being the inclusion of factual allegations extracted from the Wright Deposition and opinions derived from the Barksdale Affidavit. (R. p. 82, ¶20; R. pp. 144-145.) Brust used these allegations and opinions to support the Seventh Defense, a fact admitted at the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 419, line 3-p. 420, line 7.) Accordingly, the Seventh Defense and the First Proposed Counterclaim are the same. (R. p. 32, ¶7.)

Similarly, the Tenth Defense and Second Counterclaim are the same. (R. p. 32, ¶8.) In particular, the Second Counterclaim alleges Respondent breached the covenant of good and fair dealing inherent in every contract by failing to adhere to specific contractual obligations set forth in the Guaranty and by engaging in conduct set forth in the Amended Answer, including the conduct set forth in the Barksdale Affidavit and the Wright Deposition. (R. p. 164, ¶92-p. 165, ¶97.) These are the same facts and allegations contained in and used to support the Tenth Defense. (R. p. 86, ¶23; R. p. 164, ¶92-p. 165, ¶97.) Therefore, the Second Proposed Counterclaim and Tenth Defense are the same.

Accordingly, the trial court's conclusions regarding the proposed counterclaims and affirmative defenses was proper and Respondent has failed to show any genuine issue of material fact otherwise.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED BRUST'S MOTION TO AMEND AND RESPONDENT HAS FAILED SHOW AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION CONCERNING SAME.**

As set forth above, the trial court properly granted the MSJ, and as part of same concluded that the affirmative defenses in the Answer were counterclaims and disposed of same as being without merit. (R. p. 25, ¶¶ 27-29.) The trial court also properly found that the Seventh Defense and Tenth Defense were the same as the First Counterclaim and Second Counterclaim. (R. p. 32 ¶¶5-8.)

Accordingly, the trial court properly found that the First Counterclaim and Second Counterclaim were barred by *res judicata*. (R. p. 32, ¶9- p. 33, ¶18.) To the extent the First Counterclaim and Second Counterclaim are not barred by *res judicata*, they are barred by collateral estoppel and the prejudice contemplated under Rule 15, SCRCP.<sup>1</sup> Therefore, the Motion to Amend was properly denied.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion to amend is addressed to the sound discretion of a trial court, and the party opposing the motion has the burden of establishing prejudice. Holland ex rel. Knox v. Morbark, Inc., 754 S.E. 2d 714, 719, 407 S.C. 227, 235 (S.C. Ct. App) (citing Foggie v. CSX Transport., Inc., 313 S.C. 98, 102, 431 S.E. 2d 587, 590 (1993)). Courts have wide latitude in amending pleadings, and "[w]hile this power should be used indiscriminately or to prejudice or surprise another party, the decision to allow an amendment is within the sound discretion of the trial court..." City of North Myrtle Beach v. Lewis-Davis, 599 S.E. 2d 462, 465, 360 S.C. 225, 233

---

<sup>1</sup> At the hearing on the Motion to Amend, Respondent did not argue that the First Counterclaim and Second Counterclaim are barred by collateral estoppel. Respondent also did not argue that it would suffer the type of prejudice contemplated by Appellant. Respondent makes these arguments on appeal as alternative grounds for the denial of the Motion to Amend pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR and on L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 526 S.E. 2d 716, 338, 406 (2000).

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